Feagin et al v. LivingSocial, Inc. et al
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

TROY FAEGIN, an individual on CASE NO. 14¢v00418-WQH-
behalf of himself, and ANA KSC

MARQUEZ, an individual on behalf of
herself, ORDER

Plaintiffs,
VS.

LIVINGSOCIAL, INC., a Delaware
corporation authorized to do busines
in the state of California, DEONTEE’
HICKERSON, and individual, DAVID
THORNTON, an individual, and
TIFFANY HARRIS, and individual,

Defendants

192}

HAYES, Judge:

The matter before the Courtis the Motion for Order Compelling Arbitration,
by Defendant LivingSocial. (ECF No. 10).
l. Procedural Background

On February 2, 2014, Plaintiffs Trdyaegin, and Ana Marquez initiated tl
action by filing a Complaint against Defendants LivingSocial, Inc. (“LivingSoci
Deontee’ Hickerson, and David Thornton.CfENo. 1). On June 17, 2014, Plain{
filed the First Amended Complaint (“FAG"adding Defendant ffany Harris. (ECH

No. 7). The FAC asserts the following cha for relief: (1) mark infringement in

violation of California Busiess and Professional Code § 1420£eq; (2) willful mark
infringement in violation of Califaria Business and Piessional Code 8§ 142@0 seq;
(3) false advertising imiolation of 15 U.S.C. § 1054t seq;, (4) mark infringement if
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violation of 15 U.S.C. § 105&t seq (5) false advertising in violation of Californ

Business and Pradsional Code § 17506t seq; (6) fraud in violation of Californig

Penal Code § 484 and California Cidbde 88 3281, 3288, and 3294; (7) un

business practices in violation of Califia Business and éfessional Code § 17200

et seq Id.

OnJuly 9, 2014, LivingSocial filed the Mon to Compel Arbitration. (ECF Ng
10). On August 25, 2014, Plaintiff filed an opposition. (ECF No. 11). On Augu
2014, LivingSocial filed a reply. (ECF No 14.)
Il.  Factual Background

Plaintiffs Troy Feagin andna Marquez allege thately are co-owners of A.T.

ja

Fair

A —4

5t 29

Your Service Cleaning and Janitorial, difdania-licensed residential and commerdial

cleaning service located in San Diego, Califar (ECF No. 7, FAC at 2). Plaintiffs

allege that Defendant uingSocial is a national online marketing company

advertises deals and discounts on behath@fchants. (ECF No. 7, FAC at 3).
On August 23, 2012, Platiff Ana Marquez signed a Merchant Serv

Agreement (“Agreement”), authorizing LigSocial to advertisend sell vouchers fg

Plaintiffs’ company, A.T. Your Service Cleag and Janitorial, iisan Diego County.

(ECF No. 11-1, Declaration of Ana Marmeg (“Marquez Decl.”) | 4; Declaration

Derek Smith (“Smith Decl.”)  3; ECF NdO0-2, Exh. A). Section 10(f) of the

Agreement provides:

In the event of any dispute, claim, or disagreement arising from or relating
to this Agreement or the breach thdrdbe parties hereto shall use their
best efforts to settle the dispute, claim, or disagreement. To this effect,
they shall consult and negotiatgth each other in good faith and,
recognizing_ their mutual mterest_&teanﬁ)t to reach a just and e(?]wtable_
solution satisfactory to both parties. If they do not reach such solution
within a period of 30 days, then, hgtice upon either Party to the other,
all disputes, claims, or differencasall be finallysettled by a single
arbitrator in an arbitration admstered by the American "Arbitration
Association in accordance with ehprovisions of its Commercial
Arbitration Rules.

(ECF No. 10-2, Smith Decl., Exh. A). Section 9 of the Agreement provides

Agreement shall commence oretéffective date and contie for one (1) year. (ECF
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No. 10-2, Smith Decl., Exh. A).
Between October 2012 and November 2012, Defendant LivingSocial pro

A.T. Your Service Cleaning and Janitoral its web site and tbugh social medig.

(ECF No. 11-1, Marquez Decl. { 5).

In April 2013, Ana Marquez contacted LingSocial to inquire about advertisil
A.T. Your Service Cleaning and Janitoriatiwthe company, but was told there wa
two to three month wait time in the San geeMarket. (ECF No. 11-1, Marquez De
17). Afew weeks later in May 2013, AN&rquez received an email from one of
existing customers stating that the omsér had purchased a voucher for AT. Y
Service Cleaning and Janitorial througlvihgSocial's web site. (ECF No. 11-
Marquez Decl. § 8). At the time, A.T.o¥r Service Cleaning and Janitorial was
advertising with LivingSocial. (ECF No. 11,-Marquez Decl. 1 8)Ana Marquez late

mote:

19

sa
cl.

ner
Dur
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found out that LivingSocial was advertisiagother company called At Your Servlce

Housekeeping in the San Diego area. (BMOF11-1, Marquez Decl.  8). Plainti

allege that Defendants Deontee’ Hickerddayid Thornton, ad Tiffany Harrison arg

business partners and joint owners ofY&iur Service Housekeeping. (ECF No.
FAC at 3).

LivingSocial did not include a tgdone number for At Your Servig
Housekeeping on the vouchers it sold. (ECFLUlA, Marquez Decl. 1 8). As arest
customers who searched for “At Your See/65an Diego” found Plaintiffs’ web site a
telephone number. (ECF No 11-1, Maez Decl.  8). Ana Marquez notifig
LivingSocial of the problem by email in &ffort to clear up the confusion custom
were experiencing. (ECF No. 11-1, Marquez Decl. 1 9).

On May 7, 2013, Plaintiffs decided ¢ancel plans for future advertising w
LivingSocial. (ECF No. 11-1, Marquez Def§l11; ECF No. 11-1, Exh. 3). Over t

next few months, Plaintiffs continuedrteceive telephone callsom customers in Sa[
e

Diego who had mistakenly thought they ghsed vouchers for A.T. Your Servi
Cleaning and Janitorial from LivingSocidECF No. 11-1, Marquez Decl. §12). T
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FAC alleges that “AT YOUR SERVICHailed to honor their vouchers” causi
confused consumers to “issue and write amanted negative reviews of PLAINTIFF

services on popular review websites such as Yelp, Google+, Face
etc...and...PLAINTIFFS have suffered a lagsbusiness, revenue, and reputatig

(ECF No. 7, FAC at 6).

IVV. Contentions of the Parties
LivingSocial contends that the partieseed by contract to present any dispy

related to their business relationship befthe American Arbitration Associatic

should good faith consultationslfaLivingSocial further contends that Plaintiffs’ mark

infringement, false advertisement, and unifaisiness practices actions ‘relate to’

Agreement under any common sense definitibthat term as the parties agreed.

N9
S’
phool

n.

tes

)n

the

Plaintiffs contend that the mark inigement, false advertisement, and unfair

business practices claims do not arise frorelate to any provisions of the Agreeme
Plaintiffs contend that LivingSocial faite suggest how thernguage “arising from o
relating to this Agreement or the breatiereof’ can be reasonably interpreted
include Plaintiffs’ claims — claims thatake no factual allegations concerning te
and conditions of the parties’ agreement.
V.  Discussion

A.  Federal Arbitration Act

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) “vas enacted ... in response to widespl
judicial hostility to arbitration agreementsAT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepciqri3l

nt.
I
to

MS

ead

S. Ct. 1740, 1745 (2011) (citation omitted). Section 2 of the FAA states: “A written

provision in any ... contract evidencingransaction involving commerce to settle
arbitration a controversy thereafter arising olusuch contract or transaction ... sh

be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, sapen such grounds as exist at law of

equity for the revocation of any contract9 U.S.C. § 2. Section 2 of the FA

by

all
in

A

“reflect[s] both a liberal federal policfavoring arbitration and the fundamental

principle that arbitration is a matter of contractConcepcion131 S. Ct. at 174
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(quotations omitted). “In line with theg@inciples, courts must place arbitrati

oy

agreements on an equal footing with otbentracts, and enforce them according to

their terms.” Id. at 1745-46 (citations omitted).

“The basic role for courts under théd4 is to determine (1) whether a valid

agreement to arbitrate exists and, if itsld@) whether the agement encompasses {
dispute at issue Kilgore v. KeyBank, Nat'l Ass;i718 F.3d 1052, 1058 (9th Cir. 201
(en banc) (quotation omittedlf the response is affirmative on both counts, then
[FAA] requires the court to enforce thebdration agreement in accordance with
terms.” Chiron Corp. v. Ortho Diagnostic Sys., In207 F.3d 1126, 1130 (9th C
2000). “[T]he party resisting arbitratiorérs the burden of proving that the claim
iIssue are unsuitable for arbitratiorGreen Tree Fin. Corp. v. Randol@B81 U.S. 79
91-92 (2000).

In this case, Plaintiffs do not dispute the fact that the Merchant Sq
Agreement entered into with LivingSotimcluded a valid arbitration provisiol
Plaintiffs contend that the scope of theysion, as determined by the phrase “aris
from or relating to the Agreement [or] the breach thereof,” does not encompas

he
3)
the
ts

r.
at

|92

PI'VICe
.

ing
S the

state and federal claims for mark infringemdalse advertisement, and unfair business

practices. (ECF No. 11 at 3).

B. é/:\{h_ether the Merchant Service Agreement Encompasses Plaintiff
aims

A clause requiring arbitration of ardispute “arising from or relating to” a
agreement is a broad arbitration clauSee Cape Flattery Ltd. v. Titan Mar., LL&7
F.3d 914, 922 (9th Cir. 2011) (“when pastimtend to include a broad arbitrati
provision, they provide for arbitration ‘angj out of or relating to’ the agreement.
Chiron Corp. v. Ortho Diagnostic Sys., In207 F.3d 1126, 1131 (9th Cir. 200DV
Industries, Inc. v Dentsply Intern., Ind.71 Fed.Appx. 92, 93 (91ir. 2006). In this
case, the arbitration provision containedsiection 10(f) of the Agreement states

V)

n

pN

in

pertinent part, “any dispute, claim, or disagreement arising from or relating to thi

Agreement or the breach thereof.” (ECF.N6-2, Smith Decl., Exh. A). The Cou
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finds the Agreement contains a broad arbitration provision.

Where an arbitration clause is intefj@a broadly, it reaches “every dispt
between the parties having a significant trefeship to the contract and all dispu
having their origin or genesis in the contracEimula, Inc. v. Autoliv. Inc175 F.3d
716, 721 (9th Cir. 1999). The disputessue “need only ‘todtmatters’ covered b
the contract,” in order for the court tosadve all doubts in favor of arbitratiornd. at
721 (quotingMitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Jd@.3 U.S. 614

624 n.13(1985). However, “[aburt may order arbitratiasf a particular dispute only

where the court is satisfied that thetpr agreed to arbitrate that disput&tanite

ite
es

Rock Co. v. International Broth. of Teams{&6l U.S. 287, 297 (2010). The Suprgme

Court of the United States has stated thatCourt has “never held that [the fede
policy favoring arbitration] overrides the prip&e that a court may submit to arbitrati
‘only those disputes...that the pas have agreed to submitld. at 302 (interna
citations omitted).
1. Mark Infringement (Plaintiffs’ First, Second, and Fourth
o Causes of Action) o

Plaintiffs contend that the claims for state and federal mark infringement

arise from or relate to the Agreement bessathe Agreement is completely silent

LivingSocial's rights and obligations regarg Plaintiffs' mark. (ECF No. 11 at 11

ral

olp

o nC

on

).

LivingSocial contends that Plaintiffs’ claim of trademark infringement depends

explicitly on LivingSocial's prior Agreementitlt Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs' allegatio
that LivingSocial helped Plaintiffs' mafkecome famous and distinguished.” (E
No. 14 at 4). LivingSocial contends thaithout a purportedly famous mark, the
could be no claim for trademark infringemgeand the Agreement between Plaint
and LivingSocial unquestionably authorizedgibgSocial to promote Plaintiffs’ produ
which led to the mark's purported fanie.

Claims “arise from” an agreement oethreach thereof when the claims re

to “the interpretation and perfoemce of the contract itself. Tracer Research Corp.

v. National Environmental Services C42 F.3d 1292, 1295 (9th Cir. 1994§e alsc
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Mediterranean Enterprisesnc. v. Ssangyong Corp/08 F.2d 1458, 1464 (9th C
1983) (“when an arbitration clause referdigputes or controversies ‘under’ or ‘arisi
out of’ the contract, arbitration is restrictieddisputes and controversies relating to

interpretation of the contraahd matters of performancénternal citations omitted);

Capital Group Communs. Inc. v. Xedar Coi3013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 109856, at *1

12 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 5, 2014) (“Plaintiffs’ claims do not “arise out of” the Consulting

Agreement because the alldgrisrepresentations...havemog to do with the partie
performance of the Consulting Agreent or its interpretation...”).

In this case, the Court concludes ttesolution of the mark infringement clain
does not require interpretation of the Agresm or interpretation of Plaintiffs’ g
LivingSocial’'s performance or conduct under the Agreem&ate Simula, Inc175
F.3d at 722-24 (finding claims arbitrable whesolution will necessitate interpretil
the Agreement to determine its meaning aterpreting the parties performance :
conduct under the Agreement). The Agreetmesilent on LivingSocial's rights arn
obligations regarding Plaintiffs’ mark. @&hCourt finds that the allegation that t
parties entered into a business agreemeithwid to the mark’s purported fame dg
not compel arbitration under the Agreemeiee Cape Flattery647 F.3d 914 at 92

(“We also rejected the defdants’ argument that the dige was arbitrable because

would not have arisen but for the contractT)acer, 42 F.3d at 1295 (9th Cir. 199
(“The fact that the tort claim would nbtave arisen ‘but for’ the parties licensi
agreement is not determinative.”). In these, Plaintiffs’ mark infringement clain
constitute independent wrongs and do nquie interpretation of the Agreement
evaluation of either parties fermance under the Agreemeisiee Cape Flatterp47
F.3d at 922 (“When a tort claim constitutes an ‘independent wrong from any b
of the contract, it ‘does not requirdenpretation of the contract.””) (citingracer, 42
F.3d at 1295). The Court finds that Plaintiffs’ mark infringement claims do not *
from” the Agreement.

When determining whether a disputeslates to” the agement the Court mu
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give that term its common, everyday meanindgchery v. Ticket Innovations, In
2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41125, at *14 (C.D. Cal. April 27, 2009) (“[T]he Court n
give this term its common, everyday meanwvbich is very broad.”). The dispute
issue “need only ‘touch mattersbvered by the contract.Simulg 175 F.3d at 72
(quotingMitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Jd@.3 U.S. 614, 62
n. 13 (1985))Golden 2012 WL 4208779 at 5.
In this case, the Agreement states:
(1) Nature of Services; This Agement relates to the placement of
marketing and promotion servic Merchant with LivingSocial.
LivingSocial will promote and authorize third parties to promote a
Voucher for the Merchamroduct with the particular Deal characteristics
identified in the Order Form in accordance with this
Agreement...LivingSocial acts asllse of record for the Voucher on
behalf of Merchant, buthe Merchant is ultimately the provider of the
Merchant Product and is obligaith regard to the Voucher.
(22 LivingSocial Responsibilities: (bg Promotion: (i) LivingSocial may
offer and promote the Merchant prodacservice identified in the Order
Form (the “Merchant Product”) through one or more of the Promotion
Channels on the terms and conditialescribed in the Order Form (the
‘Deal”), including the price to be paid by the purchaser (the “Paid
Value”).
(ECF No. 10-2, Smith Decl., Exh. A). nder the Agreement, LivingSocial agreec
promote a voucher for the merchant’s guot, but the Agreement is silent
LivingSocial's rights and obligations regargiPlaintiffs' mark. The Court conclud
that Plaintiffs’ mark infringement clais do not touch matters covered by
Agreement, and Plaintiffs’ mark infringemeasidims do not “relate to” the Agreeme
The Court finds Plaintiffs’ mark infringemeciiaims do not “arise frm or relate to” the
Agreement, Plaintiffs’ mark infringementacins are not referable to arbitration.
2. False Advertisement (Plaintiffs’ Third and Sixth Causes of Action)
Plaintiffs contend that the claims for false advertising do not touch m
covered by the parties' Agreement. Riffis assert that the Agreement makes
reference to LivingSocial's right t@advertise competing businesses and
LivingSocial concedes that nowherethre Agreement does LivingSocial agree

refrain from providing advertising services companies with similar names in S

-8- 14cv00418-WQH-KSC
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Diego or any other geographic area. (ECF No. 11 at 11).

LivingSocial contends that Plaintiffs' claim that LivingSocial engaged in
advertising depends on the knowledge hg&ocial gained from implementing t
Agreement, and that the ingohentation and promotion of the Agreement is the fag

false
ne
stual

predicate for the false advertig claim. LivingSocial further contends that Plaintiffs

have not alleged that LivingSatadvertised any informatidhat was false. Plaintiff
assert that the false advertising claim ocaty ‘arise from’ LivingSocial's prior ded
with Plaintiffs, including LivingSocial's implementation of its promot
responsibilities set forth in Section 2@f)the Agreement. (ECF No. 14 at 5).
Claims “arise from” an agreement oethreach of an agreemt when the claim
relate to the interpretation andrfi@mance of the contract itselee Tracer42 F.3d
at 1295 (“an arbitration clause thatovers disputes ‘arising under i

S

L

on

AN

agreement...covered only those disputestirejdo’ the interpretation and performance

of the contract itself.”)Mediterranean Enterprise$ic. v. Ssangyong Cor.08 F.2d
1458, 1464 (“when an arbitration clause reterdisputes or controversies ‘under’
‘arising out of’ the contract, arbitration restricted to dispes and controversie
relating to the interpretation of the catt and matters of performance.) (inter

citations omitted).

In this case, Plaintiffs allege thatf@adant LivingSocial'sise of the name “AT

Your Service” in promoting A¥Your Service Housekeeping sied consumers astot
source of the services. (ECF No. 7 at Flaintiffs allege thaDefendants actions hay
caused confusion as to the source of clegquservices and are likely to continue
cause confusion, mistake, or deceit athtosource of the cleaning services resul
in damage to Plaintiffs’ business. (ECF.Noat 10). Plaintiffs further contend th
Defendant LivingSocial peritted 30 days to pass ‘wiut providing the service
ordered through AT Your Service Housekeepi(§CF No. 7 at 14). Plaintiffs alleg
that “DEFENDANTS’ false advéising and failure to performedirected business aws

from the PLAINTIFFS, and gensted negative reviews omebsites such as Yelp.
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Facebook, and Google+, which furtherrhad the PLINTIFFS trhough additional lo
of business.” (ECF No. 7 a4). The factual allegatiortisat Defendant LivingSocig

SS

L

misled consumers causing confusion andtakie as to the source of the services

ordered by the consumers, datlled to provide the servicesdered within 30 days ar
not based upon the relationship betweennffés and LivingSocial, rather the

allegations are based upon LivingSociatelationship with At Your Servic
Housekeeping and the three named DefersdaResolving the false advertisem
claims will not require interpretation othe Agreement or interpretation

LivingSocial's performance and conduct under the Agreentee¢. Simula, Inc175
F.3d at 722-24 (finding claims arbitrable whesolution will necessitate interpretil
the agreement to determine its meaning eterpreting the parties performance :
conduct under the agreement). The Agredmees not include any provision in whi

LivingSocial agrees to refrain from prouwdj advertising services to companies wi

similar names in San Diego any other geographic arehe Court concludes that tf
false advertisement claims do not “arise framelate to” the Aggement and Plaintiffs
false advertisement claims aret referable to arbitration.
3. Unfair Business Practices (Plaintiffs’ Eighth Cause of Action)

Plaintiffs contend that by infringing on their mark and falsely advertising

selling vouchers for At Youservice Housekeeping, Living8ial engaged in unlawfuj

unfair, and fraudulent business practiceaaation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 8§ 172(
et seq (ECF No. 11 at 12).

Plaintiffs’ unfair business practices ¢l are grounded in Plaintiffs’ claims
marked infringement and false advertisem&gstcause the markadringement claims

and

DO

Of

and the false advertisement claims do nots@afrom or relate to” the Agreement, the

unfair business practices claims groundedthe marked infringement and fal
advertisement claims are also held not tas@afrom or relate tathe Agreement. Thy
Court finds Plaintiffs’ unfair business practiadaims are not referable to arbitratig
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C. Stay

LivingSocial requests that the matterst&yed or dismissed during the pende

of the arbitration. The Court finds that Plaiis’ claims are not subject to arbitratio

LivingSocial's request to stay the catiging arbitration is accordingly denied.

VI. Conclusion

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motidie Compel Arbitration (ECF No. 7

is DENIED and the request to stidne case during arbitration is DENIED.

DATED: October 15, 2014

it 2. ,@.4,
WILLIAM Q. HAYES
United States District Judge
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